CHRISTOPHER & BANKS CORP Form 10-Q September 10, 2015 Table of Contents
UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended August 1, 2015
or
TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission File No. 001-31390
CHRISTOPHER & BANKS CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 06 - 1195422 (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

2400 Xenium Lane North, Plymouth, Minnesota (Zip Code) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code (763) 551-5000

Not Applicable

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

YES NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). YES NO

As of September 4, 2015 there were 37,270,856 shares of the registrant's common stock outstanding.

Table of Contents

CHRISTOPHER & BANKS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
	PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements: <u>Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of August 1, 2015 and January 31, 2015</u> <u>Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Thirteen and Twenty-six Weeks Ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014</u> <u>Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the Thirteen and Twenty-six Weeks Ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014</u> <u>Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Twenty-six Weeks Ended August 1, 2015</u> <u>and August 2, 2014</u> <u>Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements</u>	2 3 4 5 6
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	14
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	23
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	24
	PART II OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	25
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	25
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	25
Item 3.	<u>Defaults Upon Senior Securities</u>	25
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	25
Item 5.	Other Information	25
<u>Item 6.</u>	<u>Exhibits</u>	26
	Signatures	27

.

Table of Contents

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHRISTOPHER & BANKS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands)

	August 1, 2015 (Unaudited)	5 January 31, 2015
ASSETS	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 23,581	\$ 37,245
Short-term investments	10,917	13,293
Accounts receivable	5,919	4,000
Merchandise inventories	50,900	45,318
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	10,156	6,700
Deferred income taxes	3,653	3,550
Income taxes receivable	682	845
Total current assets	105,808	110,951
Property, equipment and improvements, net	57,122	45,107
Other non-current assets:	•	,
Long-term investments		4,752
Deferred income taxes	36,173	34,388
Other assets	766	839
Total other non-current assets	36,939	39,979
Total assets	\$ 199,869	\$ 196,037
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 23,639	\$ 18,411
Accrued salaries, wages and related expenses	3,273	2,957
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities	20,276	23,988
Total current liabilities	47,188	45,356
Non-current liabilities:		
Deferred lease incentives	9,456	7,110
Deferred rent obligations	7,276	6,390
Other non-current liabilities	1,164	1,292
Total non-current liabilities	17,896	14,792
Commitments	_	_

Stockholders' equity: Preferred stock — \$0.01 par value, 1,000 shares authorized, none outstanding — — — — Common stock — \$0.01 par value, 74,000 shares authorized, 47,062 and 46,720 shares issued, and 37,271 and 36,929 shares outstanding at August 1, 2015 and January 31, 2015, respectively 470 466 Additional paid-in capital 125,283 124,242

Retained earnings

Common stock held in treasury, 9,791 shares at cost at August 1, 2015 and

January 31, 2015

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

The latest latest

Total stockholders' equity 134,785 135,889
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity \$ 199,869 \$ 196,037

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

CHRISTOPHER & BANKS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

(unaudited)

	Thirteen Wo	eeks Ended	Twenty-Six Weeks Ended		
	August 1, 2015	August 2, 2014	•	August 2, 014	
Net sales	\$ 93,997	\$ 106,633	\$ 185,618 \$	209,998	
Costs and expenses:					
Merchandise, buying and occupancy	63,061	69,000	122,473	134,460	
Selling, general and administrative	29,630	31,281	61,619	63,488	
Depreciation and amortization	2,901	2,958	5,617	5,865	
Impairment of store assets	115	144	115	144	
Total costs and expenses	95,707	103,383	189,824	203,957	
Operating (loss) income	(1,710)	3,250	(4,206)	6,041	
Other expense	(33)	(53)	(40)	(104)	
(Loss) income before income taxes	(1,743)	3,197	(4,246)	5,937	
Income tax benefit	(1,033)	(165)	(2,094)	(42)	
Net (loss) income	\$ (710)	\$ 3,362	\$ (2,152) \$	5,979	
Basic (loss) income per share:					
Net (loss) income	\$ (0.02)	\$ 0.09	\$ (0.06)	0.16	
Basic shares outstanding	36,871	36,591	36,860	36,442	
Diluted (loss) income per share:					
Net (loss) income	\$ (0.02)	\$ 0.09	\$ (0.06)	0.16	
Diluted shares outstanding	36,871	37,632	36,860	37,455	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

CHRISTOPHER & BANKS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(in thousands)

(unaudited)

	Thirteen Weeks Ended			Twenty-Six Weeks Ended			Ended	
	A	ugust 1, 20	1 /5 u	gust 2, 2014	Αι	ugust 1, 2015	Au	gust 2, 2014
Net (loss) income Other comprehensive income, net of tax: Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising during the period, net of taxes of (\$1), \$0, \$2 and \$0 for the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ending August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014, respectively	\$	(710)	\$	3,362	\$	(2,152)	\$	5,979
Reclassification adjustment for losses included in net (loss) income, net of taxes of \$0 for each of the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ending August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014, respectively		_		1				1
Total other comprehensive (loss) income		(1)		(13)		2		(12)
Comprehensive (loss) income	\$	(711)	\$	3,349		(2,150)		5,967

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

CHRISTOPHER & BANKS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

(unaudited)

	Twenty-Six Weeks Ended August 1, 2015August 2, 2014			
Cash flows from operating activities:				
Net (loss) income	\$	(2,152)	\$	5,979
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization		5,617		5,865
Impairment of store assets		115		144
Deferred income taxes, net		(1,888)		
Unrealized gain on investment, net		(1)		
Amortization of premium on investments		24		34
Amortization of financing costs		31		37
Deferred lease-related liabilities		2,696		2,277
Stock-based compensation expense		1,071		1,387
Loss on disposal of assets		_		51
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Increase in accounts receivable		(1,919)		(4,099)
Increase in merchandise inventories		(5,582)		(3,341)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets		(3,414)		(1,744)
Decrease (increase) in income taxes receivable		163		(644)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable		5,135		(5,274)
Decrease in accrued liabilities		(2,980)		(3,602)
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities		(148)		144
Net cash used in operating activities		(3,232)		(2,786)
Cash flows from investing activities:				
Purchases of property, equipment and improvements		(17,514)		(10,340)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments		_		(6,497)
Maturities and sales of available-for-sale investments		7,108		6,740
Net cash used in investing activities		(10,406)		(10,097)
Cash flows from financing activities:				
Shares redeemed for payroll taxes		(26)		(1,469)
Exercise of stock options		_		843
Net cash used in financing activities		(26)		(626)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		(13,664)		(13,509)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		37,245		41,074
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$	23,581	\$	27,565

Supplemental cash flow information:

Accrued purchases of equipment and improvements \$ 975 \$ 531
Shares surrendered for stock option cost \$ - \$ 1,715

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

CHRISTOPHER & BANKS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(unaudited)

NOTE 1 — Basis of Presentation

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have been prepared by Christopher & Banks Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as "Christopher & Banks", "the Company", "we" or "us") pursuant to the current rules and regulations of the United States ("U.S.") Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. have been condensed or omitted, pursuant to such rules and regulations. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and related notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015.

The results of operations for the interim period shown in this report are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the full fiscal year. In the opinion of management, the information contained herein reflects all adjustments, consisting only of normal adjustments, except as otherwise stated in these notes, necessary to present fairly our financial position as of August 1, 2015, and January 31, 2015, our results of operations for the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014, and our cash flows for the twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to the current period presentation. None of the reclassifications had a material effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows in any period.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 605, Revenue Recognition", as well as various other sections of the ASC, such as, but not limited to, ASC 340-20 Other Assets and Deferred Costs-Capitalized Advertising Costs. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 is effective for the Company beginning with the annual reporting for fiscal 2017,

including interim periods within that year, and is to be applied either retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or with the cumulative effect recognized at the date of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other appropriate components of equity or net assets on the balance sheet). Early adoption is not permitted. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of ASU 2014-09, including the choice of application method upon adoption, on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which defers, for public business entities, the effective date of ASU 2014-09 to annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. Early application is permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within that period. The Company is in the process of determining the date of adoption, as well as the impact as noted above.

Table of Contents

NOTE 2 — Investments

Investments as of August 1, 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

	Aı	nortized Cost	Unreal	ized Gains	Unrea	lized Losses	Esti	imated Fair Value
Short-term investments:								
Available-for-sale securities:								
Certificates of deposit	\$	480	\$		\$		\$	480
Commercial paper		6,495		2		_		6,497
Corporate bonds		2,833				(3)		2,830
U.S. Agency securities		900						900
Municipal bonds		209		1				210
Total investments	\$	10,917	\$	3	\$	(3)	\$	10,917

Investments as of January 31, 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Short-term investments:	Ar	nortized Cost	Unreali	zed Gains	Unre	alized Losses	Esti	mated Fair Value
Available-for-sale securities:								
Certificates of deposit	\$	4,080	\$		\$	(2)	\$	4,078
Commercial paper		7,384		3		(3)		7,384
Corporate bonds		1,615		1				1,616
Municipal bonds		214		1				215
Total short-term investments		13,293		5		(5)		13,293
Long-term investments:								
Available-for-sale securities:								
Corporate bonds		2,857		_		(4)		2,853
U.S. Agency securities		1,900		_		(1)		1,899
Total long-term investments		4,757				(5)		4,752
Total investments	\$	18,050	\$	5	\$	(10)	\$	18,045

During the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, there were no purchases of available-for-sale securities and approximately \$7.1 million of maturities and sales of available-for-sale securities. During the twenty-six weeks ended

August 2, 2014, there were \$6.5 million of purchases of available-for-sale securities and approximately \$6.7 million of maturities and sales of available-for-sale securities. There were no other-than-temporary impairments of available-for-sale securities during the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014, respectively.

Expected maturities of the Company's investments are as follows (in thousands):

	Αu	igust 1, 2015	,
Due in one year or less	\$	10,917	
Due after one year through five years		_	
Total investments	\$	10,917	

Table of Contents

NOTE 3 — Merchandise Inventories and Sources of Supply

Merchandise inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):

	August 1, 2015	January 31, 2015
Merchandise - in store/eCommerce	\$ 37,097	\$ 33,534
Merchandise - in transit	13,803	11,784
Total merchandise inventories	\$ 50,900	\$ 45,318

The Company does not have long-term purchase commitments or arrangements with any of its suppliers or agents. Of the Company's merchandise purchases during the twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014, one supplier accounted for approximately 32% and 31% of merchandise purchases, respectively. No other vendor supplied greater than 10% of the Company's merchandise purchases during the twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014.

NOTE 4 — Property, Equipment and Improvements, Net

Property, equipment and improvements, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

Description Land Corporate office, distribution center and related building	Estimated Useful Life —	August 1, 2015 \$ 1,597	January 31, 2015 \$ 1,597
improvements	25 years	12,616	12,616
Store leasehold improvements	Shorter of the useful life or term of related lease, typically 10 years	51.634	51.700
Store furniture and fixtures Corporate office and distribution	3 to 10 years	73,514	70,083
center furniture, fixtures and			
equipment	7 years	4,426	4,344
Computer and point of sale hardware and software	3 to 5 years	32,868	32,888

Construction in progress	<u> </u>	10,570	2,721
Total property, equipment and			
improvements, gross		187,225	175,949
Less accumulated depreciation and			
amortization		(130,103)	(130,842)
Total property, equipment and			
improvements, net	\$	5 57,122	\$ 45,107

The Company reviews long-lived assets with definite lives at least annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. As a result of an impairment analysis, which included the evaluation of individual under-performing stores and the assessment of the recoverability of the carrying value of the improvements and equipment related to each of the stores, the Company recorded approximately \$0.1 million for long-lived asset impairments during the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015, and approximately \$0.1 million for long-lived asset impairments during the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 2, 2014.

The Company's assessment of the recoverability of the carrying value of its assets involves the projection of future cash flows, which requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions. Differences in circumstances or estimates could produce significantly different results.

Table of Contents

NOTE 5 — Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

	August 1, 2015	January 31, 2015
Gift card and store credit liabilities	\$ 5,564	\$ 8,170
Accrued Friendship Rewards Program loyalty liability	3,844	3,731
Accrued income, sales and other taxes payable	1,924	1,578
Accrued occupancy-related expenses	3,172	3,957
Sales return reserve	1,236	1,077
Other accrued liabilities	4,536	5,475
Total accrued liabilities and other current liabilities	\$ 20,276	\$ 23,988

NOTE 6 — Credit Facility

On September 8, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment (the "Amendment") to its existing Credit Agreement (the "Credit Facility") with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association ("Wells Fargo") as Lender. The Amendment, among other changes, (i) extended the term of the Credit Facility to September 8, 2019; (ii) reduced the rates at which borrowings will generally accrue interest and reduced the commitment fee rate; (iii) modified the calculation of the Borrowing Base to provide for potential additional capacity, as the Borrowing Base serves as a limit on the overall amount of revolving loans and letters of credit that may be outstanding at any one time under the Credit Facility; (iv) excluded from the limitation on store closings the consolidation of Christopher & Banks stores and C.J. Banks stores into MPW stores; and (v) modified the definition of Payment Conditions. The Company recorded approximately \$0.1 million of deferred financing costs in the third quarter of fiscal 2014 in connection with the Amendment. The deferred financing costs have been combined with the balance of the deferred financing costs remaining from the Credit Facility dated July 12, 2012, and all are recorded within other assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheet and are being amortized as interest expense over the related term of the Amendment.

The Credit Facility provides the Company with revolving credit loans of up to \$50.0 million in the aggregate, subject to a borrowing base formula based primarily on eligible credit card receivables, inventory and real estate, as such terms are defined in the Credit Facility. Up to \$10.0 million may be drawn in the form of standby and/or documentary letters of credit. The Company's obligations under the Credit Facility are secured by the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility will generally accrue interest at a rate ranging from 1.50% to 1.75% over the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or 0.50% to 0.75% over the Wells Fargo Prime Rate based on the amount of Average Daily Availability for the Fiscal Quarter immediately preceding each Adjustment Date, as such term is defined in the Credit Facility. The Company has the ability to select between the LIBOR or prime based rate at the time of the cash advance. The Credit Facility has an unused commitment fee of 0.25%. Fees for letters of credit range from 1.00% to 1.75%, depending upon the Average Daily Availability for the Fiscal Quarter immediately preceding each Adjustment Date.

The Credit Facility contains customary events of default and various affirmative and negative covenants. The sole financial covenant contained in the Credit Facility requires the Company to maintain availability at least equal to the greater of (a) ten percent (10%) of the Borrowing Base or (b) \$3.0 million. In addition, the Credit Facility permits the payment of dividends to the Company's shareholders if certain financial conditions are met. The Company was in compliance with all covenants and other financial provisions as of August 1, 2015.

The Company had no revolving credit loan borrowings under the Credit Facility during each of the twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014. Historically, the Company's credit facility has been utilized only to open letters of credit. The total Borrowing Base at August 1, 2015, was approximately \$32.4 million. As of August 1, 2015, the Company had open on-demand letters of credit of approximately \$0.7 million. Accordingly, after reducing the

Table of Contents

Borrowing Base for the open letters of credit and the required minimum availability of the greater of \$3.0 million, or 10.0% of the Borrowing Base, the net availability of revolving credit loans under the Credit Facility was approximately \$28.4 million at August 1, 2015.

NOTE 7 — Income Taxes

The Company's liability for unrecognized tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions is recorded within other non-current liabilities. There has been no material change in the reserve for unrecognized tax benefits since the end of the previous year. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as components of income tax expense.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income taxes and the income tax obligations of various state and local jurisdictions. Periods after fiscal 2011 remain subject to examination by the IRS. With few exceptions, the Company is not subject to state income tax examination by tax authorities for taxable years prior to fiscal 2010. As of August 1, 2015, the Company had no other ongoing audits and does not expect the liability for unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease in the next twelve months.

In April 2015, the Company settled the IRS examination of the Fiscal 2011 tax year. The settlement was related to certain issues which the Company had previously reflected net of tax within deferred tax assets. The settlement did not result in any cash payments nor any impact to tax expense.

As of August 1, 2015, the Company had a small valuation allowance for state net operating loss carryforwards that may expire before they are utilized.

As of August 1, 2015, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards which will reduce future taxable income. Approximately \$24.7 million in net federal tax benefits were available from these loss carryforwards and an additional \$1.1 million was available in net tax credit carryforwards. Included in the federal net operating loss was approximately \$5.6 million of loss generated by deductions related to equity-based compensation, the tax effect of which will be recorded to additional paid-in capital when utilized. The state loss carryforwards may result in net state tax benefits of approximately \$2.0 million. The federal net operating loss carryovers will expire beginning in November 2032 and beyond. The state net operating loss carryforwards will expire beginning in 2015 and beyond.

NOTE 8 — Earnings Per Share

The Company calculates earnings per share ("EPS") under the guidance in ASC 260-10, "Earnings per Share," which clarifies that unvested share-based payment awards which contain nonforfeitable rights to receive dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are considered participating securities, and thus, should be factored into the two-class method of computing EPS. Participating securities under this statement include some of the Company's unvested employee and director restricted stock awards with time-based vesting, which receive nonforfeitable dividend payments.

Table of Contents

The calculation of EPS for common stock shown below excludes the income attributable to unvested employee restricted stock awards from the numerator and excludes the dilutive impact of these shares from the denominator.

	Thirteen We August 1, 2015	eeks Ended August 2, 2014	Twenty-Six V August 1, 2015	Veeks Ended August 2, 2014
Numerator (in thousands):				
Net (loss) income attributable to Christopher & Banks				
Corporation	\$ (710)	\$ 3,362	\$ (2,152)	\$ 5,979
Income allocated to participating securities	_	(10)		(24)
Net (loss) income available to common stockholders	\$ (710)	\$ 3,352	\$ (2,152)	\$ 5,955
Denominator (in thousands):				
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic	36,871	36,591	36,860	36,442
Dilutive shares		1,041		1,013
Weighted average common and common equivalent shares				
outstanding - diluted	36,871	37,632	36,860	37,455
Net earnings per common share:				
Basic	\$ (0.02)	\$ 0.09	\$ (0.06)	\$ 0.16
Diluted	\$ (0.02)	\$ 0.09	\$ (0.06)	\$ 0.16

Total stock options of approximately 0.4 million and 0.5 million were excluded from the shares used in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 2, 2014, respectively, as they were anti-dilutive.

NOTE 9 — Fair Value Measurements

Under ASC 820-10 "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures," fair value is defined as the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the measurement date. The Company utilizes a hierarchy that prioritizes fair value measurements based on the types of inputs used for the various valuation techniques (market approach, income approach and cost approach) that relate to its financial assets and financial liabilities. Categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The levels of the hierarchy are described as follows:

- · Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- · Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and inputs (other than quoted prices) that are observable for

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Table of Contents

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis:

The following tables provide information by level for the Company's available-for-sale securities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

		Fair Value Measurements Using Inputs Considered as			
As of August 1, 2015:					
	Fair Value	Level 1 Level 2	Level 3		
Short-term investments:					
Certificates of deposit	\$ 480	\$ \$ 480	\$ —		
Commercial paper	6,497	— 6,497			
Corporate bonds	2,830	2,830			
U.S. Agency securities	900	— 900			
Municipal bonds	210	— 210			
Total assets	\$ 10,917	\$ — \$ 10,917	\$ —		

		Fair Value Measurements				
As of January 31, 2015:		Using Inputs Considered as				
	Fair Value	Level 1 Level 2	Level 3			
Short-term investments:						
Certificates of deposit	\$ 4,078	\$ — \$ 4,078	\$ —			
Commercial paper	7,384	— 7,384	_			
Corporate bonds	1,616	— 1,616				
Municipal bonds	215	— 215	_			
Total current assets	13,293	— 13,293				
Long-term investments:						
Corporate bonds	2,853	2,853	_			
U.S. Agency securities	1,899	— 1,899	_			
Total non-current assets	4,752	 4,752	_			
Total assets	\$ 18,045	\$ — \$ 18,045	\$ —			

The Company's available-for-sale securities were valued based on quoted prices for similar assets in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets in which there were fewer transactions. The Company had \$10.9 million of investments as of August 1, 2015, and there were no transfers of assets between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value measurement hierarchy during the twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015, and August 2,

2014. According to its policy, the Company recognizes transfers into levels and transfers out of levels on the date of the event or when a change in circumstances causes a transfer.

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis:

The following table summarizes certain information for non-financial assets as of August 1, 2015 and January 31, 2015, that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis in periods subsequent to an initial recognition period. The Company places amounts into the most appropriate level within the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to determine the fair value at the measurement date.

Table of Contents

			Fair Value Measurements Using Inputs Considered as						
Description	Fair	· Value	Level 1	Lev	el 2	Le	vel 3	Rea	alized Losses
Assets as of August 1, 2015 Long-lived assets held and used Assets as of January 31, 2015	\$	15	\$ —	\$	_	\$	15	\$	(115)
Long-lived assets held and used	\$	54	\$ —	\$		\$	54	\$	(216)

Long-lived assets held and used with a carrying amount of approximately \$0.1 million were written down to their fair value of \$15 thousand, resulting in an impairment charge of approximately \$0.1 million, which was included in earnings for the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015. The Company recorded approximately \$0.1 million in impairment charges, included in earnings for the period, on long-lived assets held and used with a carrying value of approximately \$0.2 million, based on a fair value of \$40 thousand for the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 2, 2014.

The Company determines fair value for measuring assets on a non-recurring basis using a discounted cash flow approach as discussed in Note 1, Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies in our Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2015. In determining future cash flows, the Company uses its best estimate of future operating results, which requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including estimated sales, merchandise margin and expense levels, and the selection of an appropriate discount rate; therefore, differences in the estimates or assumptions could produce significantly different results. General economic uncertainty impacting the retail industry and continuation of recent trends in company performance makes it reasonably possible that additional long-lived asset impairments could be identified and recorded in future periods.

The fair value measurement of the long-lived assets encompasses the following significant unobservable inputs:

	Range	
Unobservable Inputs	Fiscal 2015	Fiscal 2014
Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)	15%	15%
Annual sales growth	0% to 5%	(3%) to 3.5%

n

NOTE 10 — Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject, from time to time, to various claims, lawsuits or actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the amount of any liability that could arise with respect to any current proceedings cannot be accurately predicted, management does not expect any such liability to have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

NOTE 11 — Segment Reporting

In the table below, the Retail Operations reportable segment includes activity generated by our retail store locations (Christopher & Banks, C.J. Banks, Missy Petite Women ("MPW") and Outlet stores) as well as our eCommerce business. The "Corporate/Administrative" column, which primarily represents operating activity at the corporate office and distribution center facility, is presented to allow for reconciliation of segment-level net sales, operating (loss) income and total assets to consolidated net sales, operating (loss) income and total assets. Segment operating income (loss) includes only net sales, merchandise gross margin and direct store expenses with no allocation of corporate overhead.

During the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015, the Company recorded approximately \$0.1 million in charges related to the impairment of one store as compared to approximately \$0.1 million in charges related to the impairment of two stores during the same periods in the prior year. The impairment costs for each period related to store-level asset impairment charges and are included in the operating income for the Retail Operations segment.

Table of Contents

Business Segment Information

(in thousands)

TI. W. L. F. L. LA. (1.2015)	Retail Operations	Corporate/ Administrative	Consolidated
Thirteen Weeks Ended August 1, 2015 Net sales Depreciation and amortization Operating income (loss)	\$ 93,997	\$ —	\$ 93,997
	2,292	609	2,901
	9,053	(10,763)	(1,710)
Thirteen Weeks Ended August 2, 2014 Net sales Depreciation and amortization Operating income (loss)	\$ 106,633	\$ —	\$ 106,633
	2,313	645	2,958
	16,081	(12,831)	3,250
Twenty-Six Weeks Ended August 1, 2015 Net sales Depreciation and amortization Operating income (loss) Total assets	\$ 185,618	\$ —	\$ 185,618
	4,392	1,225	5,617
	20,448	(24,654)	(4,206)
	118,960	80,909	199,869
Twenty-Six Weeks Ended August 2, 2014 Net sales Depreciation and amortization Operating income (loss) Total assets	\$ 209,998	\$ —	\$ 209,998
	4,579	1,286	5,865
	33,728	(27,687)	6,041
	93,128	56,652	149,780

klkl

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations ("MD&A") should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes included in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q and the consolidated financial statements, notes and MD&A contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015.

Company Overview

Christopher & Banks Corporation, a Delaware corporation, is a Minneapolis-based retailer of women's apparel and accessories, which operates retail stores and an eCommerce site through its wholly-owned subsidiaries. As of August 1, 2015, we operated 529 stores in 43 states, including 82 Christopher & Banks ("CB") stores, 73 C.J. Banks ("CJ") stores, 309 Missy, Petite, Women ("MPW") stores and 65 outlet stores. Our Christopher & Banks brand offers unique fashions and accessories featuring exclusively designed, coordinated assortments of women's apparel in sizes 4 to 16 and in petite sizes 4P to 16P. Our C.J. Banks brand offers similar assortments of women's apparel in sizes 14W to 26W. Our MPW and outlet stores offer an assortment of both Christopher & Banks and C.J. Banks apparel servicing the MPW customer in one location. We also operate an eCommerce website for these two brands at www.christopherandbanks.com which, in addition to offering the apparel and accessories found in our stores, also offers exclusive sizes and styles available only online.

We believe we have a unique opportunity to address the needs of our customers by embracing her demographic, women who generally range in age from 45 to 60. We believe that this demographic is largely overlooked by other retailers. Our overall strategy for our two brands, Christopher & Banks and C.J. Banks, is to offer a compelling, evolving merchandise

Table of Contents

assortment through our stores and eCommerce website in order to satisfy our customers' expectations for style
quality, value, versatility and fit, while providing knowledgeable and personalized customer service.

Outlook for 2015

Third quarter 2015

We anticipate net sales for the third quarter to be between \$101 million and \$105 million. This compares to \$110.6 million in net sales in last year's third quarter. Current sales levels have improved versus the second quarter, but remain below the prior year levels. The guidance range reflects quarter-to-date sales trends as compared to last year.

We expect gross margin to be 320 to 400 basis points lower than last year's third quarter, driven primarily by the deleveraging of buying and occupancy costs.

We expect selling, general and administrative (SG&A) dollars to be between \$34.3 million and \$34.8 million compared to \$31.5 million of SG&A expense reported in the third quarter of last year. The majority of the increase is coming from additional professional services costs of \$1.5 million primarily associated with the expected hiring of a consultant and fees associated with costs related to recent shareholder activism and the elimination, in the prior year, of a \$1.1 million incentive accrual. In addition, there is approximately \$400,000 in severance costs associated with recent organizational changes.

We expect depreciation and amortization to be approximately \$3.1 million, compared to \$2.9 million in last year's third quarter.

We expect inventory per square foot to end the quarter slightly below the level at the end of the third quarter last year.

During the third quarter we anticipate closing one CB store and two MPW stores and converting four CB and CJ stores into two MPW stores. We also plan on opening five MPW stores and nine Outlet stores during this time period. We expect to operate, on average, 533 stores as compared to 550 stores during last year's third quarter.

Key Performance Indicators

Our management evaluates several items, which are considered key performance indicators, in assessing our performance including same-store sales, net sales per store, net sales per square foot, gross margin per store, and gross margin per square foot.

Our same-store sales data is calculated based on the change in net sales for stores that have been open for more than 13 full months and includes stores, if any, that have been relocated within the same mall. Stores where square footage has been changed by more than 25 percent are excluded from the same-store sales calculation for 13 full months following the change. Stores closed during the fiscal year are included in the same-store sales calculation only for the full months of the fiscal year the stores were open. As we continue to implement our strategy of converting many of our existing stores to MPW stores, those converted stores are dropping out of our comparable store base for 13 months. The pace of conversions will be slowing down as the majority of planned conversions have occurred, which will allow for a more steady state for measurement of same-store sales. Over the last four quarters we have converted 117 CB stores into MPW stores by adding CJ merchandise and converted a total of 87 CB and CJ stores into 45 MPW stores.

Table of Contents

As our Omni-Channel initiative, known as "Customer First", continues to mature, the distinction between store sales and eCommerce sales has become less definitive. Therefore, we are no longer reporting eCommerce sales separately and are including those sales in our same-store sales results.

Management considers same-store sales to be one of the indicators of our performance. Same-store sales results are important in achieving leveraging of costs, including store payroll, store occupancy, depreciation and other general and administrative expenses. Year-over-year increases in same-store sales contribute to greater leveraging of costs, while declining same-store sales contribute to deleveraging of costs. Same-store sales results also have a direct impact on our total net sales, cash, cash equivalents, investments and working capital. We also monitor changes in net sales per store, net sales per square foot, gross margin per store, and gross margin per square foot for the entire store base.

Merchandise, buying and occupancy costs

Merchandise, buying and occupancy costs, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, as a percentage of net sales, measure whether we are appropriately optimizing the price of our merchandise and markdown utilization.

Merchandise, buying and occupancy costs include the cost of merchandise, markdowns, shrink, freight, buyer and distribution center salaries, buyer travel, rent and other occupancy-related costs, various merchandise design and development costs, miscellaneous merchandise expenses and other costs related to our distribution network.

Operating income

Our management views operating income as a key indicator of our success. The key drivers of operating income are net sales per square foot, merchandise, buying and occupancy costs and our ability to control our other operating costs, including selling, general, and administrative expenses.

Cash flow and liquidity

We evaluate cash flow from operations, investing activities and financing activities in determining the sufficiency of our cash position. Cash flow from operations has historically been sufficient to provide for our uses of cash. We expect to operate our business and execute our strategic initiatives principally with funds generated from operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our critical accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 of the notes to consolidated financial statements contained within our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal period ended January 31, 2015. There have been no material changes in our critical accounting policies or estimates in the thirteen or twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015. Management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our condensed consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.

Table of Contents

Results of Operations

Thirteen Weeks Ended August 1, 2015 Compared to Thirteen Weeks Ended August 2, 2014

	Thirteen Wo	015	August 2, 20		Change		
		%		%			
(dollars in thousands)	\$	of Sales	\$	of Sales	\$	%	
Net sales	\$ 93,997	100.0 %	\$ 106,633	100.0 %	\$ (12,636)	(11.8) %	
Merchandise, buying and							
occupancy	63,061	67.1	69,000	64.7	(5,939)	(8.6)	
Selling, general and administrative	29,630	31.5	31,281	29.3	(1,651)	(5.3)	
Depreciation and amortization	2,901	3.1	2,958	2.8	(57)	(1.9)	
Impairment of store assets	115	0.1	144	0.1	(29)	(20.1)	
Total costs and expenses	95,707	101.8	103,383	96.9	(7,676)	(7.4)	
Operating (loss) income	(1,710)	(1.8)	3,250	3.0	(4,960)	(152.6)	
Other income (expense)	(33)		(53)		20	(37.7)	
(Loss) income before income taxes	(1,743)	(1.9)	3,197	3.0	(4,940)	(154.5)	
Income tax benefit	(1,033)	(1.1)	(165)	(0.2)	(868)	*	
Net (loss) income	\$ (710)	(0.8) %	\$ 3,362	3.2 %	\$ (4,072)	(121.1)%	

^{*} Calculated result is not meaningful.

Net Sales. Net sales for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015, were \$94.0 million, a decrease of \$12.6 million, or 11.8%, from net sales of \$106.6 million for the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014. The decrease in net sales was primarily a result of a 6.2% decrease in units purchased per transaction, operating an average of 24, or 4.4%, fewer stores, and a 4.6% decline in transactions per store compared to the same period last year; these declines were partially offset by a 1.0% increase in our average unit retail and an increase in eCommerce transactions that resulted in an increase of 14.0% in eCommerce sales. Primary drivers were a lower level of clearance merchandise in the back half of the quarter and a lack of depth in some of our key categories, as well as a general weakness in traffic trends in apparel. Our store count totaled 529 as of August 1, 2015, compared to 545 at August 2, 2014.

Same-store sales decreased 12.4% for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015, when compared to the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014; this follows a 4.7% same-store sales increase in last year's second quarter. Our transition to the MPW format has resulted in a substantial number of our stores being excluded from our store base. On average during the second quarter, approximately 54% of our stores were included in our comparable store base versus 83% on average during the second quarter last year.

Merchandise, Buying and Occupancy Costs. Merchandise, buying and occupancy costs, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, were \$63.1 million, or 67.1% of net sales, for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to \$69.0 million, or 64.7% of net sales, for the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014, resulting in a decrease of approximately 240 basis points ("bps") in gross profit margin for the quarter.

The decrease in gross margin was driven by deleveraging of other merchandise, buying and occupancy of approximately 230 bps, while merchandise margins remained flat to prior year. Merchandise margins were steady mainly due to improved initial product mark-up offset by an increase in markdowns, consistent with our core merchandise strategy.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. SG&A expenses, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015, were \$29.6 million, or 31.5% of net sales, compared to \$31.3 million, or 29.3% of net sales, for the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014. The increase in SG&A expenses as a percent of sales was the result of deleveraging due to lower sales. Total SG&A dollars decreased by \$1.7 million in the second quarter of 2015 as compared to the same period last year, mainly due to a \$1.3 million reduction in incentive plan costs, as well as reduced medical costs and reduced store payroll and related costs due to lower sales. These expense savings were offset by an

Table of Contents

increase in the aggregate higher legal and professional services of \$0.4 million which included costs associated with recent shareholder activism, and increased store supplies partially due to the number of new stores added during the second quarter. In the second quarter of fiscal 2015, marketing expenditures, including on-line marketing costs, as a percentage of net sales was flat compared to the prior year period.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was \$2.9 million, or 3.1% of net sales, for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to \$3.0 million, or 2.8% of net sales, for the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014. The decrease in the amount of depreciation and amortization expense primarily resulted from operating on average 4.4% fewer stores in the second quarter of fiscal 2015 compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2014. In addition, the continued maturing of our store base has resulted in more fully depreciated assets and lower depreciation expense, offsetting depreciation from new stores and store conversions.

Impairment of Store Assets. We recorded non-cash impairment charges of approximately \$0.1 million related to one store in the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015 and approximately \$0.1 million related to two stores in the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014.

Operating (Loss) Income. As a result of the foregoing factors, we reported an operating loss of approximately \$1.7 million, or 1.8% of net sales, for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to operating income of approximately \$3.3 million, or 3.0% of net sales, for the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014.

Other Expense. Other expense of \$33 thousand and \$53 thousand for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014, respectively, consisted primarily of fees associated with our Credit Facility.

Income Taxes. We recorded an income tax benefit of approximately \$1.0 million, with an effective tax rate of 59.3% for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015. For the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014, we recorded an income tax benefit of approximately \$0.2 million with an effective tax rate of -5.2%. The increase in the effective tax rate reflects the release of the majority of the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets in fiscal 2014, as well as the impact of permanent differences, state income taxes and discrete income tax benefits related to recognizing deferred tax assets from the previous quarter.

Net (Loss) Income. As a result of the foregoing factors, we reported a net loss of \$0.7 million, or 0.8% of net sales and \$(0.02) per share, for the thirteen weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to net income of \$3.4 million, or 3.2% of net sales and \$0.09 per diluted share, for the thirteen weeks ended August 2, 2014.

Table of Contents

Twenty-Six Weeks Ended August 1, 2015 Compared to Twenty-Six Weeks Ended August 2, 2014

	Twenty-Six August 1, 20	Weeks Ended		August 2, 20	14	C	Change	
(dollars in thousands)	\$	of Sales	\$		of Sales	\$!	%
Net sales	\$ 185,618	100.0 %		209,998	100.0 %		(24,380)	(11.6) %
	\$ 105,010	100.0 %	Ф	209,996	100.0 %	Ф	(24,360)	(11.0) %
Merchandise, buying and	100 450	66.0		101.160	64.0		(11.005)	(0,0)
occupancy	122,473	66.0		134,460	64.0		(11,987)	(8.9)
Selling, general and								
administrative	61,619	33.2		63,488	30.2		(1,869)	(2.9)
Depreciation and amortization	5,617	3.0		5,865	2.8		(248)	(4.2)
Impairment of store assets	115	0.1		144	0.1		(29)	(20.1)
Total costs and expenses	189,824	102.3		203,957	97.1		(14,133)	(6.9)
Operating (loss) income	(4,206)	(2.3)		6,041	2.9		(10,247)	(169.6)
Other expense	(40)	_		(104)	_		64	(61.5)
(Loss) income before income								
taxes	(4,246)	(2.3)		5,937	2.9		(10,183)	(171.5)
Income tax benefit	(2,094)	(1.1)		(42)			(2,052)	*
Net (loss) income	\$ (2,152)	(1.2) %	\$	5,979	2.9 %	\$	(8,131)	(136.0)%

^{*} Calculated result is not meaningful.

Net Sales. Net sales for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, were \$185.6 million, a decrease of \$24.4 million, or 11.6%, from net sales of \$210.0 million for the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014. The decrease in net sales was primarily a result of operating an average of 28, or 5.2%, fewer stores, a 5.2% decline in units per transaction, and a 5.5% reduction in transactions per store compared to the same period last year; these declines were partially offset by a 2.1% increase in our average unit retail and an increase in eCommerce transactions that resulted in a 9.7% increase in eCommerce sales. First quarter delays in receipts due to the West Coast port disruption and unseasonable weather in certain regions negatively impacted our sales. In the second quarter, primary drivers were a lower level of clearance merchandise in the back half of the quarter and a lack of depth in some of our key categories, as well as a general weakness in traffic trends in apparel.

Same-store sales decreased 12.0% for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, when compared to the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014; this follows a 1.7% same-store sales increase in the same period last year. Our transition to the MPW format has resulted in a substantial number of our stores being excluded from our comparable store base. At the end of the twenty-six week period, on average approximately 58% of our stores were included in our comparable store base versus approximately 87% last year.

Merchandise, Buying and Occupancy Costs. Merchandise, buying and occupancy costs, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, were \$122.5 million, or 66.0% of net sales, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to \$134.5 million, or 64.0% of net sales, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014, resulting in a decrease of approximately 200 basis points ("bps") in gross profit margin for the period.

The decrease in gross margin was driven by deleveraging of other merchandise, buying and occupancy of approximately 240 bps, partially offset by an increase in merchandise margins of approximately 40 bps. The slight improvement in merchandise margins resulted mainly from improved initial product mark-up.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. SG&A expenses, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, were \$61.6 million, or 33.2% of net sales, compared to \$63.5 million, or 30.2% of net sales, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014. The increase in SG&A expenses as a percent of sales was the result of deleveraging due to lower sales. Total SG&A dollars decreased by \$1.9 million in the first half of 2015, as compared to the same period last year, due to a \$0.8 million reduction in incentive bonus costs, lower marketing expenditures, medical and insurance costs, and lower store payroll and related expenses due to lower sales, partially offset by higher corporate salaries, and an increase, in the aggregate of legal and professional services of \$0.4 million,

Table of Contents

which included costs associated with recent shareholder activism. In the first half of fiscal 2015, marketing, including on-line marketing costs, as a percentage of net sales was approximately 2.4%, which was flat to the prior year period.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was \$5.6 million, or 3.0% of net sales, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to \$5.9 million, or 2.8% of net sales, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014. The decrease in the amount of depreciation and amortization expense primarily resulted from operating on average 5.2% fewer stores in the first half of fiscal 2015 compared to the first half of fiscal 2014. In addition, the continued maturing of our store base has resulted in more fully depreciated assets and lower depreciation expense, offsetting depreciation from new stores and store conversions.

Impairment of Store Assets. We recorded non-cash impairment charges of approximately \$0.1 million related to one store during the twenty-six week period ended August 1, 2015, and approximately \$0.1 million related to two stores during the twenty-six week period ended August 2, 2014.

Operating (Loss) Income. As a result of the foregoing factors, we reported an operating loss of approximately \$4.2 million, or 2.3% of net sales, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to operating income of approximately \$6.0 million, or 2.9% of net sales, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014.

Other Expense. Other expense of \$40 thousand and \$0.1 million for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014, respectively, consisted primarily of fees associated with our Credit Facility.

Income Taxes. We recorded an income tax benefit of approximately \$2.1 million for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015. For the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014, we recorded an income tax benefit of approximately \$42.0 thousand. The increase in the effective tax rate reflects the release of the majority of the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets in fiscal 2014, as well as the impact of permanent differences, state income taxes and discrete income tax benefits related to recognizing deferred tax assets from the previous twenty-six week period.

Net (Loss) Income. As a result of the foregoing factors, we reported a net loss of \$2.2 million, or 1.2% of net sales and (\$0.06) per share, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to net income of \$6.0 million, or 2.9% of net sales and \$0.16 per diluted share, for the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flow and liquidity

We evaluate cash flow from operations, investing activities and financing activities in determining the sufficiency of our cash position. Cash flow from operations has historically been sufficient to provide for our uses of cash. We expect to operate our business and execute our strategic initiatives principally with funds generated from operations and, if necessary, from our Credit Facility, subject to compliance with the Credit Facility's financial covenant and its other terms and provisions.

Based on our current plans for fiscal years 2015 and 2016, we believe cash flows from operating activities and working capital will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital expenditure requirements for the next twelve months. We do not anticipate the need to utilize our Credit Facility for any liquidity needs in fiscal 2015, other than to maintain and open letters of credit in the normal course of business. Our plans are dependent on our ability to consistently deliver merchandise that is appealing to our customers at a profitable price, and to manage our costs effectively, in order to satisfy our working capital and other operating cash requirements. Our operating plan is based on a number of assumptions which involve significant judgment and estimates of future performance. If our net sales, gross margins and operating results fall short of our expectations, we may be required to access our Credit Facility.

We continually monitor our performance and liquidity and would take steps intended to improve our financial position if trends indicated a future need to borrow under the Credit Facility. Steps we may consider include: modifying our operating plan, seeking to reduce costs further, decreasing our cash spend and/or capital expenditures, as well as

Table of Contents

evaluating alternatives and opportunities to obtain additional sources of liquidity through the debt or equity markets. It is possible these actions may not be sufficient or available or, if available, not available on terms acceptable to us.

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014 (in thousands):

	August 1, 2015	August 2, 2014
Net cash used in operating activities	\$ (3,232)	\$ (2,786)
Net cash used in investing activities	(10,406)	(10,097)
Net cash used in financing activities	(26)	(626)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	\$ (13,664)	\$ (13,509)

Net cash used in operating activities

Twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015

Net cash used in operating activities in the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, totaled \$3.2 million. This compares to net cash used in operating activities of \$2.8 million in the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014. We reported a net loss of \$2.2 million for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to net income of \$6.0 million for the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014.

Significant fluctuations in our working capital accounts in the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, included a \$5.6 million increase in merchandise inventories, a \$5.1 million increase in accounts payable, a \$3.4 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets, a \$1.9 million increase in accounts receivable and a \$3.0 million decrease in accrued liabilities. The increase in merchandise inventories, in addition to seasonal increases, relates to the impact of lower sales and higher in-transit inventories. The increase in accounts payable is associated with both an accelerated timing of inventory receipts and a higher level of in-transit inventory at the end of the quarter. The increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets primarily relates to increased technology related contracts. The increase in accounts receivable primarily resulted from tenant allowances on new stores. The decrease in accrued liabilities primarily related to decreases in gift card and store credit liabilities, and lower percentage rent due to lower sales.

The remainder of the change in cash used by operating activities was substantially the result of the net loss realized in the second quarter, after adjusting for non-cash charges including depreciation, deferred lease-related liabilities and stock-based compensation expense, offset by the increase in deferred taxes.

Twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014

Net cash used in operating activities in the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014 totaled \$2.8 million. We reported net income of \$6.0 million for the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014.

Significant fluctuations in our working capital accounts in the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014 included a \$3.3 million increase in merchandise inventories, a \$5.3 million decrease in accounts payable, a \$1.7 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets, a \$4.1 million increase in accounts receivable and a \$3.6 million decrease in accrued liabilities. The increase in merchandise inventories related to an increased investment in core inventory. The decrease in accounts payable related to timing of inventory receipts earlier in the quarter compared to the prior year period. The increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets primarily related to increases in IT-related contracts and rent partially offset by a decrease in store supplies. The increase in accounts receivable primarily resulted from tenant allowances on new stores. In addition, more of our sales were tendered on our private label credit card in the second quarter of fiscal 2014 compared to the prior year period, which resulted in an increase in credit card receivables due to timing differences in funding from the card processor. The decrease in accrued liabilities primarily related to gift card and store credit liabilities and deferred rent, partially offset by an increase in sales return reserve and taxes payable.

The remainder of the change in cash used in operating activities was substantially the result of the net earnings realized in the second quarter, after adjusting for non-cash charges including depreciation and amortization, store asset

Table of Contents

impairment, deferred lease-related liabilities and stock-based compensation expense, combined with various changes in our other operating assets and liabilities.
Net cash used in investing activities
Twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015
Net cash used in investing activities in the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, totaled \$10.4 million, a change of \$0.3 million from net cash used in investing activities of \$10.1 million during the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014. Net cash used in investing activities in the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, consisted of \$17.5 million of capital expenditures, partially offset by maturities and sales of \$7.1 million of available-for-sale investments. We opened 25 new stores and relocated or expanded 13 new MPW stores as we continued our conversion process during the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015. We also made investments in our Customer First initiative.
Twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014
Net cash used in investing activities in the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014 totaled \$10.1 million. Net cash used in investing activities in the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014 consisted of \$10.3 million of capital expenditures and \$6.5 million of purchases of available-for-sale investments, partially offset by maturities and sales of \$6.7 million of available-for-sale investments. We opened 11 new stores and relocated or expanded 15 new MPW stores in the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014. We also made investments in our information technology infrastructure and visual merchandising displays and fixtures.

Net cash used in financing activities

Twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015

Net cash used in financing activities in the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, totaled approximately \$26 thousand, a change of \$600 thousand from net cash used in financing activities of \$626 thousand in the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014. In the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, net cash used in financing activities related to the payment of withholding tax obligations on the vesting of restricted stock awards.

Twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014

Net cash used in financing activities in the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014 totaled \$626 thousand. In the twenty-six weeks ended August 2, 2014, net cash used in financing activities primarily related to the payment of withholding tax obligations on the vesting of restricted stock awards and stock options exercised, partially offset by cash received for the exercise of stock options.

Capital Resources

On September 8, 2014, we entered into an Amendment to our existing Credit Facility with Wells Fargo. The Credit Facility, as amended, provides us with revolving credit loans of up to \$50.0 million in the aggregate, subject to a borrowing base formula based primarily on eligible credit card receivables, inventory and real estate, as such terms are defined in the Credit Facility, and up to \$10.0 million of which may be drawn in the form of standby and/or documentary letters of credit. The Amended Credit Facility expires in September 2019.

We had no revolving credit loan borrowings under the Credit Facility during fiscal 2015 or fiscal 2014. Historically, our credit facility has been utilized only to open letters of credit in the normal course of business. The total borrowing base at August 1, 2015, was approximately \$32.4 million. As of August 1, 2015, we had open on-demand letters of credit of approximately \$0.7 million. Accordingly, after reducing the borrowing base for the open letters of credit and the required minimum availability of the greater of \$3.0 million, or 10.0% of the borrowing base, the net availability of revolving credit loans under the Credit Facility was approximately \$28.4 million at August 1, 2015.

Table of Contents

See Note 6 - Credit Facility for additional details regarding our Credit Facility, including a description of the sole financial covenant, with which we were in compliance as of August 1, 2015.

Sourcing

We directly imported approximately 50% and 31% of our merchandise purchases during the twenty-six-week periods ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014, respectively. A significant amount of our merchandise was manufactured overseas during each of these fiscal periods, primarily in China and Indonesia. Our reliance on sourcing from foreign countries may cause us to be exposed to certain risks as indicated below and in Part I, "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Import restrictions, including tariffs and quotas, and changes in such restrictions, could affect the importation of apparel and might result in increased costs, delays in merchandise receipts or reduced supplies of apparel available to us, and could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. Our merchandise flow could also be adversely affected by political instability in any of the countries where our merchandise is manufactured or by changes in the United States government's policies toward such foreign countries. In addition, merchandise receipts could be delayed due to interruptions in air, ocean and ground shipments.

We do not have long-term purchase commitments or arrangements with any of our suppliers or buying agents. One of our suppliers accounted for approximately 32%, and 31% of our purchases during the twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014, respectively. No other vendor supplied greater than 10% of the Company's merchandise purchases during the twenty-six week periods ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014.

We currently expect product costs to remain relatively stable for the remainder of fiscal 2015.

Quarterly Results and Seasonality

Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly depending on a number of factors, including general economic conditions, the competitive environment, consumer confidence, customer response to our seasonal merchandise mix, timing of new store openings, adverse weather conditions, and shifts in the timing of certain holidays or in the timing of our promotional events.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation had a material effect on our results of operations for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015.

Forward-Looking Statements

We may make forward-looking statements reflecting our current views with respect to future events and financial performance. These forward-looking statements, which may be included in reports filed under the Exchange Act, in press releases and in other documents and materials as well as in written or oral statements made by or on behalf of the Company, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including those discussed in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal period ended January 31, 2015, which could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results or those anticipated.

The words or phrases "will likely result," "are expected to," "estimate," "project," "believe," "expect," "should," "anticipate," "intend" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21e of the Exchange Act and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as enacted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 ("PSLRA"). In particular, we desire to take advantage of the protections of the PSLRA in connection with the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Table of Contents

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date such statements are made. In addition, we wish to advise readers that the risk factors listed in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal period ended January 31, 2015, as well as other factors, could affect our performance and could cause our actual results for future periods to differ materially from any opinions or statements expressed. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The market risk inherent in our financial instruments and in our financial position represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates. We are potentially exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates relating to our Credit Facility with Wells Fargo Bank. Loans under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate ranging from 1.50% to 1.75% over the LIBOR or 0.50% to 0.75% over the Wells Fargo Prime Rate, based on the amount of Average Daily Availability as such terms are defined in the Credit Facility.

We enter into certain purchase obligations outside the U.S., which are denominated and settled in U.S. dollars. Therefore, we have only minimal exposure to foreign currency exchange risks. We do not hedge against foreign currency risks and believe that our foreign currency exchange risk is immaterial. We do not have any derivative financial instruments and do not hold any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

We are exposed to limited market risk from changes in interest rates relating to our investments. The potential immediate loss to us that would result from a hypothetical 1% change in interest rates would not be expected to have a material impact on our earnings or cash flows.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management has evaluated the effectiveness and design of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report (the "Evaluation Date"). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in applicable rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and

communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Due to the material weakness reported as of January 31, 2015, management performed additional analyses and procedures to ensure that our condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report were presented fairly in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and fairly present in all material respects our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the period presented. Other than the material weakness previously described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal period ended January 31, 2015, management has identified no new material weaknesses as of August 1, 2015.

(b) Management's Remediation Plan

As disclosed in Item 9A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2015, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2015. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. We did not adequately design controls to communicate all significant terms for lease amendments, and review the terms of new or modified store leases.

Table of Contents

Management has implemented changes to our internal control over financial reporting to remediate the identified control deficiencies. Our remediation plan and actions to further improve our internal controls surrounding our lease accounting process and analysis includes review of all store leases by accounting personnel and monthly meetings between real estate and accounting personnel to discuss the scope and nature of lease amendments being executed. Management is continuing to assess operating effectiveness of the controls put in place over several operating cycles in order to conclude that the material weakness and related control deficiencies have been remediated.

(c) Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control, other than those contained in our remediation plans described in Item 4(b) above, over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject, from time to time, to various claims, lawsuits or actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the amount of any liability that could arise with respect to any current proceedings cannot be accurately predicted, management does not expect any such liability to have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information discussed in this report, the risk factors described in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal period ended January 31, 2015, should be considered as they could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results. There have not been any material changes with respect to the risks described in our 2014 Form 10-K, but these are not the only risks facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

The following table sets forth information	concerning purchases of ou	ir common stock for the qua	rter ended August 1,
2015.		_	

				Total Number of	Maximum N	Number of
				Shares Purchased as	Shares that May Yet	
	Total Number of			Part of Publicly	Be Purchase	ed Under
	Shares	Ave	erage Price	Announced Plans or	the Plans or	
Period	Purchased (1)	Pai	d per Share	Programs	Programs	
5/3/15 - 5/30/15	_	\$	_	_	\$	_
5/31/15 - 7/4/15				_		
7/5/15 - 8/1/15	478	\$	3.24	_		_
Total	478			_		

(1) The shares of common stock in this column represent shares surrendered to us by stock plan participants in order to satisfy minimum withholding tax obligations related to the vesting of restricted stock awards.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

Table of Contents

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES	
Not applicable.	
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION	

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

None.

Exhibit Description

- 10.1** Form of Christopher & Banks Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Christopher & Banks Corporation 2013 Directors' Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 29, 2015)
- 31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 32.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 101* Financial statements from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Christopher & Banks Corporation for the fiscal quarter ended August 1, 2015, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL"): (i) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations; (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
- * Filed with this report
- ** Management agreement or compensatory plan or arrangement

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CHRISTOPHER &

BANKS

CORPORATION

Dated: September 10, 2015 By: /s/ LuAnn

Via

LuAnn Via President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: September 10, 2015 By: /s/ Peter G.

Michielutti
Peter G.
Michielutti
Executive
Vice
President,
Chief
Operating
Officer and
Chief
Financial
Officer
(Principal
Financial
Officer)